# ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING OF THE DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF THE PRESERVE ON GRAND OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

The undersigned, being all of the directors and members of The Preserve on Grand Owners Association, Inc., an Iowa nonprofit corporation ("<u>Association</u>"), hereby consent to the taking of the action set forth in the following resolutions as of the date set forth below:

**RESOLVED**, that the initial members of the Board of Directors of the Association (the "Board") as named in the Articles of Incorporation be elected to constitute the Board until the next annual meeting of the members of the Association and until successors are elected and qualified.

**RESOLVED**, that the Bylaws for the government of the Association in the form presented to the Board this date, a copy of which has been reviewed in its entirety by the Board, be and hereby are adopted as the Bylaws of the Association and the Secretary is directed to record the same in the Minute Book of the Association. RESOLVED, that the Board hereby sets the initial annual assessment for each Lot (as defined in the Bylaws) at \_\_\_\_\_\_ dollars and \_\_/100 (\$ .00). RESOLVED, that the Secretary is authorized and directed to procure the proper corporate books and that the Treasurer is authorized to pay all expenses incident to or necessary for the organization of the Association and the transaction of its business. RESOLVED, that the following persons be elected to the offices below designated until the next annual meeting of the Board and until their successors are elected and qualified: David A. Brown President, Secretary Steve Bruere Vice President, Treasurer RESOLVED, that the officers of the Association be and they hereby are authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary to carry into effect the foregoing resolutions and to complete all matters necessary to the organization of the Association. RESOLVED, that all of the acts and doings of the Incorporator of the Association, including preparation and filing of the Articles of Incorporation, are hereby approved, ratified, adopted and confirmed, and said Incorporator is hereby discharged. **DILIGENT GRAND AVENUE 67, LLC, Member** By: DILIGENT DEVELOPMENT GROUP, L.L.C., Manager David A. Brown, Manager

STEVE BRUERE, Director

DAVID A. BROWN, Director

## ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION OF THE PRESERVE ON GRAND OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

#### TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF IOWA:

Pursuant to the Revised Iowa Nonprofit Corporation Act under Chapter 504 of the Code of Iowa (the "Act"), the undersigned acting as incorporator of a corporation adopts the following Articles of Incorporation:

#### ARTICLE I NAME

The name of the corporation is **THE PRESERVE ON GRAND OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.** (the "Association").

#### ARTICLE II DURATION

The period of duration for the Association is perpetual. The existence of this Association shall commence at the time and date of filing of these Articles of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Iowa.

### ARTICLE III PURPOSE

The purpose and objectives for which this Association is organized is to promote the health, safety, and welfare of various residents of The Preserve on Grand Plat 1, West Des Moines, Polk County, Iowa and The Preserve on Grand Plat 2, West Des Moines, Polk County, Iowa, and any and all further additions thereto, through, among other things, the upkeep and maintenance of easements and common areas.

### ARTICLE IV REGISTERED OFFICE AND REGISTERED AGENT

The street address of the Association's registered office in Iowa is 12119 Stratford Drive, Suite B, Clive, Iowa 50325, and the name of its initial registered agent is David A. Brown.

#### ARTICLE V MEMBERS

The Association shall have members who shall be those persons described as members in the Bylaws of the Association (the "Bylaws"). The voting rights of the members shall be as provided in the Bylaws.

#### ARTICLE VI DIRECTORS

The number of directors of the Association shall be between one (1) and seven (7), inclusive. The number of directors may be changed by resolution of the members as set forth in the Bylaws. The names and addresses of the persons initially serving as directors until the election of their successors are:

<u>Director</u> Address

David A. Brown 12119 Stratford Dr., Ste. B

Clive, IA 50325

Steve Bruere 12119 Stratford Dr., Ste. B

Clive, IA 50325

#### ARTICLE VII INCORPORATOR

The name and address of the incorporator of the Association is David A. Brown, 12119 Stratford Drive, Suite B, Clive, Iowa 50325.

### ARTICLE VIII PERSONAL LIABILITY OF DIRECTORS

A director of the Association shall not be liable to the Association or its members for money damages for any action taken, or any failure to take any action, as a director, except liability for any of the following: (1) the amount of a financial benefit received by a director to which the director is not entitled; (2) an intentional infliction of harm on the Association or the members; (3) a violation of the unlawful distribution provision of the Act; or (4) an intentional violation of criminal law. If the Act is hereafter amended to authorize the further elimination or limitation of the liability of directors, then the liability of a director of the Association, in addition to the limitation on personal liability provided herein, shall be eliminated or limited to the extent of such amendment, automatically and without any further action, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Any repeal or modification of this Article shall be prospective only and shall not adversely affect any limitation on the personal liability or any other right or protection of a director of the Association with respect to any state of facts existing at or prior to the time of such repeal or modification.

### ARTICLE IX INDEMNIFICATION

The Association shall indemnify a director for liability (as such term is defined in Section 504.851(5) of the Act) to any person for any action taken, or any failure to take any action, as a director, except liability for any of the following: (1) receipt of a financial benefit by a director to which the director is not entitled; (2) an intentional infliction of harm on the Association or the

members; (3) a violation of the unlawful distribution provision of the Act; or (4) an intentional violation of criminal law. Without limiting the foregoing, the Association shall exercise all of its permissive powers as often as necessary to indemnify and advance expenses to its directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by law. If the Act is hereafter amended to authorize broader indemnification, then the indemnification obligations of the Association shall be deemed amended automatically and without any further action to require indemnification and advancement of funds to pay for or reimburse expenses of its directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by law. Any repeal or modification of this Article shall be prospective only and shall not adversely affect any indemnification obligations of the Association with respect to any state of facts existing at or prior to the time of such repeal or modification.

### ARTICLE X NONPROFIT STATUS

No part of the net earnings of the Association shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to the benefit of, or be distributable to its members, trustees, officers, or other private persons, except that the Association shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth in these Articles. No substantial part of the activities of the Association shall be the carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the corporation shall not participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of statements) and political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles, the Association shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on (a) by a corporation exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the I.R.C. or (b) by a corporation, contributions to which are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of the I.R.C.

### ARTICLE XI DISSOLUTION

On the dissolution of the Association, the directors shall, after paying or making provision for the payment of all of the liabilities of the Association, dispose of all of the assets of the Association exclusively for the purposes of the Association in such manner or to such organization or organizations organized exclusively for charitable, educational, religious, or scientific purposes as shall qualify as an exempt organization or organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code as the directors shall determine. Any such assets not so disposed shall be disposed of by the Iowa District Court in the county in which the principal office of the Association is then located, exclusively for such purposes or to such organization or organizations and operated exclusively for such purposes.

Dated effective the day of Januar	y, 2016.
	David A Brown Incorporator

day of January 2010

Dated affective the

### BYLAWS

#### **OF**

### THE PRESERVE ON GRAND OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

(an Iowa Nonprofit Corporation)
(hereinafter referred to as the "Corporation" or the "Association")

### ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS

- Section 1.1 "<u>Association</u>" and "<u>Corporation</u>" shall mean and refer to The Preserve on Grand Owners Association, Inc., its successors, assigns and counterparts.
- Section 1.2 "Lot Owner" shall mean and refer to the record owner, whether one or more persons or entities, of a fee simple title to any Lot (as defined in Section 1.3), but excluding those persons or entities having such interest merely as security for the performance of an obligation. If a Lot is sold on contract, the Lot Owner shall be deemed to be the contract buyer. In the event the contract buyer fails to comply with any of the terms of these Bylaws, the contract seller shall comply with the terms of these Bylaws. As between a contract seller and a contract buyer, there will be only one Lot Owner per Lot.
- Section 1.3 "<u>Lot</u>" shall mean and refer to each and every numbered lot within The Preserve on Grand Plat 1, West Des Moines, Polk County, Iowa ("<u>Plat-1</u>") and The Preserve on Grand Plat 2, West Des Moines, Polk County, Iowa ("<u>Plat-2</u>"), and each and every numbered lot within any and all subsequent additions thereto (each, an "<u>Addition</u>") (Plat-1, Plat-2, together with each and every Addition are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "<u>Property</u>").
- Section 1.4 "<u>Common Area</u>" shall mean any and all unnumbered outlot as shown on any final subdivision plat of subdivision of the Property.

#### Section 1.5 "Common Expenses" means and includes:

- (a) All sums lawfully assessed against the Lot Owners by the Board (as defined in Section 2.4);
- (b) All expenses of administration and management, maintenance, operation, repair or replacement of and addition to the Common Area;
- (c) Expenses agreed upon as common expenses by the Lot Owners; and
- (d) Expenses agreed upon as common expenses pursuant to these Bylaws of the Corporation (the "Bylaws").
- Section 1.6 "<u>Member</u>" shall mean and refer to a Lot Owner as said terms are and may be used interchangeably throughout these Bylaws. If a Lot is owned by more than one person, each and every person shall be a Member and remain jointly and severally liable for all membership obligations.

### ARTICLE 2 MEMBERS

- Section 2.1 <u>Eligibility</u>. The Corporation shall have one class of Members which shall consist of the respective Lot Owners of the Property. All present and future Lot Owners and their tenants, future tenants, employees, patrons, patients, guests and any other person who might use the facilities of the Property in any manner, are subject to the provisions set forth in these Bylaws, the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants and Regulations for The Preserve on Grand Plat 1, West Des Moines, Polk County, Iowa, dated December 5, 2017, and filed in the office of the Recorder of Polk County, Iowa, on January 10, 2018, in Book 16788 at Page 751, as amended (the "<u>First Addition Covenants</u>"), the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants and Regulations for The Preserve on Grand Plat 2, West Des Moines, Polk County, Iowa, dated December 19, 2017, and filed in the office of the Recorder of Polk County, Iowa, on January 12, 2018, in Book 16790 at Page 585, as amended (the "<u>Second Addition Covenants</u>"), and any and all restrictive covenants and regulations applicable to an Addition (the "<u>Subsequent Covenants</u>") (the First Addition Covenants, the Second Addition Covenants, and the Subsequent Covenants are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "<u>Covenants</u>").
- Section 2.2 <u>Qualification</u>. Each Lot Owner shall be a Member of the Corporation. Accordingly, the membership of each Lot Owner shall terminate when they cease to be a Lot Owner, upon the sale, transfer or other disposition of their ownership interest in the Property.
- Section 2.3 <u>Designation of Representative</u>. Each entity that is a Member shall designate an individual to be the representative of that Member with the Corporation who shall exercise all rights and privileges of the entity as a Member.
- Section 2.4 <u>Expulsion</u>, <u>Suspension or Termination of Membership</u>. The Board of Directors (the "<u>Board</u>"), by affirmative vote of three-fourths of all of the members of the Board, may expel, suspend or terminate a Member for cause after providing not less than fifteen (15) days notice to the Member of the proposed expulsion, suspension, or termination and reasons therefor and an opportunity for a hearing. The expulsion, suspension, or termination of a Member in no way relieves that Member from complying with the duties and obligations of Lot Owners set forth in these Bylaws and the Covenants.
- Section 2.5 <u>Resignation</u>. Any Member may resign by filing a written resignation with the Secretary, but resignation shall not relieve the Member of the obligation to pay any dues, assessments or other charges previously accrued and unpaid, and resignation in no way relieves the resigning Member from complying with the duties and obligations of Lot Owners set forth in these Bylaws and the Covenants.
- Section 2.6 <u>Reinstatement</u>. Upon written request signed by a former Member and filed with the Secretary, the Board may, by the affirmative vote of three-fourths of the members of the Board, reinstate the former Member to membership upon such terms as the Board may deem appropriate, so long as the Member is still a Lot Owner.

Section 2.7 <u>Transfer of Membership</u>. Membership in the Corporation is freely transferable or assignable only in relation to the Member's sale, transfer or other disposition of the Member's interest in the Property that would result in the Member not being a Lot Owner, and the transferee then being a Lot Owner and a Member. Otherwise, membership in the Corporation is not transferable or assignable.

### ARTICLE 3 MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

- Section 3.1 <u>Annual Meeting</u>. The annual meeting of the Members for the election of directors and for the transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting, shall be held between January 1 and April 30 of each year at such place as the Board shall each year fix, or at such other place, time and date as the Board shall fix, which date shall be within the earlier of the first six (6) months after the end of the Corporation's fiscal year or fifteen (15) months after the Members' last annual meeting.
- Section 3.2 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Members, for any purpose or purposes, unless otherwise prescribed by law (which for purposes of these Bylaws shall mean as required from time to time by the Revised Iowa Nonprofit Corporation Act (the "Act") or the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation, and any amendments thereto), may be called by the President, or the Board, and shall be called by the Board upon the written demand, signed, dated and delivered to the Secretary, of the holders of at least fifty percent (50%) of all the votes of Members entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at the meeting. Such written demand shall state the purpose or purposes for which such meeting is to be called. The time, date and place of any special meeting shall be determined by the Board or by the President. Unless otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation, and any amendments thereto, a written demand for a special meeting may be revoked by a writing to that effect received by the Corporation prior to the receipt by the Corporation of demands sufficient in number to require the holding of a special meeting.

#### Section 3.3 Notices and Reports to Members.

- (a) Notice of the place, date and time of all meetings of members and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be communicated not fewer than ten (10) days nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting to each Member entitled to vote at such meeting. The Board may establish a record date for the determination of Members entitled to notice, as provided in Section 3.5 of these Bylaws. Notice of adjourned meetings need only be given if required by law or by these Bylaws.
- (b) In the event corporate action is taken without a meeting in accordance with Section 3.11 of these Bylaws by less than unanimous written consent, prompt notice of the taking of such action shall be given to those Members who have not consented in writing.
- (c) If notice of proposed corporate action is required by law to be given to Members not entitled to vote and the action is to be taken by consent of the voting Members, the Corporation shall give all Members written notice of the proposed action at least ten (10) days

before the action is taken. The notice must contain or be accompanied by the same material that would have been required to be sent to Members not entitled to vote in a notice of meeting at which the proposed action would have been submitted to the Members for action.

(d) Notice may be communicated in person, by mail, by telephone, voice mail, other electronic means or other method of delivery. If these forms of personal notice are impracticable, notice may be communicated by a newspaper of general circulation in the area where published; or by radio, television, or other form of public broadcast communication. Written notice by the Corporation to its Members, if in a comprehensible form, is effective according to one of the following: (i) upon deposit in the United States mail, if mailed post-paid and correctly addressed to the Member's address shown in the Corporation's current record of Members; or (ii) when electronically transmitted to the Member in a manner authorized by the Member.

#### Section 3.4 Waiver of Notice.

- (a) Any Member may waive any notice required by law or these Bylaws if in writing and signed by any Member entitled to such notice, whether before or after the date and time stated in such notice. Such a waiver shall be equivalent to notice to such Member in due time as required by law or these Bylaws. Any such waiver shall be delivered to the Corporation for inclusion in the minutes or filing with the corporate records.
- (b) A Member's attendance at a meeting, in person or by proxy, waives (i) objection to lack of notice or defective notice of such meeting, unless the Member at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon the Member's arrival objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting, and (ii) objection to consideration of a particular matter at the meeting that is not within the purpose or purposes described in the meeting notice, unless the Member objects to considering the matter when it is presented.
- Section 3.5 Record Date. The Board may fix, in advance, a date as the record date for any determination of Members for any purpose, such date in every case to be not more than seventy (70) days prior to the date on which the particular action or meeting requiring such determination of Members is to be taken or held. If no record date is so fixed for the determination of Members, the close of business on the day before the date on which the first notice of a Members' meeting is communicated to Members shall be the record date for such determination of Members. When a determination of Members entitled to vote at any meeting of Members has been made as provided in this section, such determination shall apply to any adjournment thereof, unless the Board selects a new record date or unless a new record date is required by law.
- Secretary shall prepare an alphabetical list of the names of all Members who are entitled to notice of a Members' meeting. Subject to Section 10.6, the Members' list must be available for inspection by any Member beginning two (2) business days after notice of the meeting is given for which the list was prepared and continuing through the meeting, at the Corporation's principal office or at a place identified in the meeting notice in the city where the meeting will be

held. A Member, or a Member's agent or attorney, is entitled on written demand to inspect and, subject to the requirements of law, to copy the list, during regular business hours and at the person's expense, during the period it is available for inspection. The Corporation shall make the Members' list available at the meeting, and any Member, or a Member's agent or attorney, is entitled to inspect the list at any time during the meeting or any adjournment.

#### Section 3.7 Quorum.

- (a) At any meeting of the Members, the Members holding a majority of the votes that may be cast in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum, unless the representation of a different number is required by law, and in that case, the representation of the number so required shall constitute a quorum. If a quorum shall fail to attend any meeting, the chairperson of the meeting or a majority of the votes present may adjourn the meeting to another place, date or time.
- (b) When a meeting is adjourned to another place, date or time, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the place, date and time thereof are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken; provided, however, that if the date of any adjourned meeting is more than one hundred twenty (120) days after the date for which the meeting was originally noticed, or if a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, notice of the place, date and time of the adjourned meeting shall be given in conformity with these Bylaws. At any adjourned meeting, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the original meeting.
- (c) Once a Member is represented for any purpose at a meeting, the Member is deemed present for quorum purposes for the remainder of the meeting and for any adjournment thereof unless a new record date is or must be set for that adjourned meeting.

#### Section 3.8 <u>Organization</u>.

- (a) The President, or in the absence of the President, such other person as the Board may have designated, or, in the absence of such a person, such person as shall be designated by the holders of a majority of the votes present at the meeting, shall call meetings of the Members to order and shall act as chairperson of such meetings.
- (b) The Secretary shall act as secretary at all meetings of the Members, but in the absence of the Secretary at any meeting of the Members, the chairperson may appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting.

#### Section 3.9 Voting.

(a) Every Member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy. Each Member shall be entitled to one (1) vote on each matter submitted to a vote of the Members. If any Lot Owner consists of more than one person, the voting rights of such Lot Owner shall not be divided but shall be exercised as if the Lot Owner consisted of only one person in accordance with the proxy or other designation made by the persons constituting such Lot Owner. In the

event that there is a dispute among such Lot Owners, the matter shall be referred to the Board who shall decide by whom the vote is to be cast, and such decision will be final.

- (b) The Members having the right to vote at any meeting shall be only those of record on the books of the Corporation, on the record date fixed by law or pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.5 of these Bylaws.
- (c) Voting by Members on any question or in any election may be *viva voce* unless the chairperson of the meeting shall order or any member shall demand that voting be by ballot. On a vote by ballot, each ballot shall be signed by the Member voting, or in the Member's name by proxy, if there be such proxy.
- (d) If a quorum exists, action on a matter that is the affirmative vote of a majority of the Members represented at such quorum, is the act of the Members.

#### Section 3.10 <u>Voting by Proxy or Representative.</u>

- (a) At all meetings of the Members, a Member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy appointed in writing, which appointment shall be effective when received by the secretary of the meeting or other officer or agent authorized to tabulate votes. An appointment of a proxy is valid for eleven months from the date of its execution, unless a longer period is expressly provided in the appointment form, but in no event shall the appointment of a proxy be valid for more than three (3) years from the date of its execution.
- (b) A Member or Member's agent or attorney-in-fact may appoint a proxy to vote or otherwise act for the Member by signing an appointment form or by an electronic transmission that complies with Sections 10.1 and 10.8 of these Bylaws. An electronic transmission must contain or be accompanied by information from which one can determine that the Member, the Member's agent, or the Member's attorney-in-fact authorized the electronic transmission.
- Section 3.11 Action Without Meeting. Except as otherwise set forth in this Section 3.11, any action required or permitted by law to be taken at a meeting of the Members may be taken without a meeting or vote if one or more consents in writing setting forth the action taken shall be signed and dated by the Members having not less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the votes entitled to be cast at a meeting at which all Members entitled to vote on the action were present and voted, and are delivered to the Corporation for inclusion in the minutes or filing with the Corporation's records. Written consents from a sufficient number of Members must be obtained within sixty (60) days from the date of the earliest dated consent for such consents to be effective to take corporate action. Provided, however, a director shall not be removed by written consents unless written consents are obtained from all Members of the Corporation. otherwise fixed by law or in accordance with these Bylaws, the record date for determining Members entitled to take action without a meeting is the date the first Member signs such a Written consents may be delivered to the Corporation by electronic transmission. A written consent may be revoked by a writing to that effect received by the Corporation prior to the receipt by the Corporation of unrevoked written consents sufficient in number to take the corporate action.

- Section 3.12 <u>Ballot Voting</u>. An action based on a written ballot may be taken provided the number of votes cast meets the quorum and number of approvals meets the number requirements set forth in Section 3.9. A written ballot may be transmitted and a vote may be cast on that ballot electronically in accordance with Section 10.8.
- Section 3.13 <u>Conduct of Business</u>. The chairperson of any meeting of Members shall determine the order of business and procedure at the meeting, including such regulation of the manner of voting and the conduct of business as seem to him or her to be in order. The chairperson shall also announce at the meeting when the polls close.

### ARTICLE 4 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- Section 4.1 <u>Number, Election, and Term of Office.</u> The management and affairs of this Association shall be managed by a Board of not less than one (1) nor more than seven (7) directors. The number of directors may be changed by amendment of these Bylaws.
  - Section 4.2 Qualifications. All directors shall be Members of the Association.
- Section 4.3 <u>Powers of the Board</u>. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed under the direction of the Board. The Board may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or to execute and deliver any instrument in the name and on behalf of the Corporation, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.
- Section 4.4 Quorum and Manner of Acting. A quorum of the Board shall consist of a majority of the number of directors prescribed in accordance with Section 4.1 of these Bylaws. If at any meeting of the Board there be less than a quorum present, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting until a quorum shall be present. Notice of any adjourned meeting need not be given. At all meetings of directors, a quorum being present, the act of the majority of the directors present at the meeting shall be the act of the Board.
- Section 4.5 <u>Resignation</u>. Any director of the Corporation may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the President, the Board, or the Corporation. A resignation is effective when the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies a later effective date.
- Section 4.6 <u>Removal</u>. A director shall be subject to removal, with or without cause, at a meeting of the Members called for that purpose in the manner prescribed by law.
- Section 4.7 <u>Vacancies</u>. Any vacancy occurring in the Board through death, resignation, removal or any other cause, including an increase in the number of directors, may be filled by a majority vote of the remaining directors. Any director so elected or appointed shall hold office for a term equal to the unexpired term of the director whose position that new director has filled.

- Section 4.8. <u>Compensation of Directors</u>. Directors shall not receive any stated salaries for their services, but by resolution of the Board a fixed sum and expenses of attendance, if any, may be allowed for attendance at each regular or special meeting of the Board; but nothing contained here shall be construed to preclude any director from serving the corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation for such services.
- Section 4.9 <u>Place of Meetings, etc.</u> The Board may hold its meetings at such place or places within or without the State of Iowa, as the Board may from time to time determine. A director may participate in any meeting by any means of communication, including, but not limited to telephone conference call, by which all directors participating may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting. A director participating in a meeting by this means is deemed to be present in person at the meeting.
- Section 4.10 <u>Annual Meeting</u>. Immediately after the final adjournment of each annual meeting of the Members for the election of directors, the Board shall meet, at the same place where said meeting of Members finally adjourned, for the purpose of organization, the election of officers and the transaction of other business. Notice of such meeting need not be given. Such meeting may be held at any other time or place as shall be specified in a notice given as hereinafter provided for special meetings of the Board or in a consent and waiver of notice thereof signed by all the directors, at which meeting the same matters shall be acted upon as is above provided.
- Section 4.11 <u>Regular Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at such place and at such times as the Board shall by resolution fix and determine from time to time. No notice shall be required for any such regular meeting of the Board.

#### Section 4.12 Special Meetings; Notice.

- (a) Special meetings of the Board shall be held whenever called by direction of the President or by a majority of the directors at the time being in office.
- (b) Notice of each such meeting shall be communicated to each director at least two (2) days before the date on which the meeting is to be held. Each notice shall state the date, time and place of the meeting. Unless otherwise stated in the notice thereof, any and all business may be transacted at a special meeting. At any meeting at which every director shall be present, even without any notice, any business may be transacted.
- Section 4.13 <u>Waiver of Notice</u>. A director may waive any notice required by law or these Bylaws if in writing and signed by a director entitled to such notice, whether before or after the date and time stated in such notice. Such a waiver shall be equivalent to notice in due time as required by these bylaws. Attendance of a director at or participation in a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, unless the director at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon arrival objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting.

Section 4.14 <u>Director's Assent Presumed</u>. A director of the Corporation who is present at a meeting of the Board at which action on any corporate matter is taken shall be presumed to have assented to the action taken unless the director's dissent shall be entered in the minutes of the meeting or unless the director shall file a written dissent to such action with the person acting as the secretary of the meeting before the adjournment thereof or shall forward such dissent by registered or certified mail to the Secretary immediately after the adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not apply to a director who voted in favor of such action.

Section 4.15 Order of Business. At meetings of the Board, business shall be transacted in such order as, from time to time, the Board may determine by resolution. At all meetings of the Board, the President, or in his or her absence, the most senior Vice President present, or otherwise the person designated by the vote of a majority of the directors present shall preside.

Section 4.16 Action Without Meeting. Any action required or permitted by law to be taken at any meeting of the Board may be taken without a meeting if the action is taken by all members of the Board and if one or more consents in writing describing the action so taken shall be signed by each director then in office and included in the minutes or filed with the corporate records reflecting the action taken. Action taken under this section is effective when the last director signs the consent, unless the consent specifies a different effective date. Written consents may be delivered to the Corporation by electronic transmission. A director's consent may be withdrawn by a revocation signed by the director and delivered to the Corporation prior to the delivery to the Corporation of unrevoked written consents signed by all of the directors.

Section 4.17 <u>Committees</u>. The Board, by resolution adopted by a majority of the directors in office, may designate and appoint one or more committees, each of which shall consist of two or more directors, which committees, to the extent provided in the resolution, shall have and exercise the authority of the Board in the management of the Corporation; provided, however, that no such committee shall have the authority of the Board in reference to authorized distributions; approve, or recommend to Members dissolution, merger, or sale, pledge, or transfer of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets; elect, appoint, or remove directors or fill vacancies on the Board or any of its committees; or adopt, amend, or repeal the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws. The appointment of any such committee and the delegation of authority shall not operate to relieve the Board of any responsibility imposed upon it by law. Each committee shall fix its own rules governing the conduct of its activities as the Board may request.

Section 4.18 <u>Non-Delegation</u>. Nothing in this Article or elsewhere in these Bylaws shall be considered to grant to the Board, the Corporation or to the officers of the Corporation any powers or duties that, by law, have been delegated to the Lot Owners.

### ARTICLE 5 OFFICERS

Section 5.1 <u>Executive Officers</u>. The executive officers of the Corporation shall be a President, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers as may from time to time be elected by

the Board. One person may hold the offices and perform the duties of any two (2) or more of said offices. In its discretion, the Board may delegate the powers or duties of any officer to any other officer or agents, notwithstanding any provision of these Bylaws, and the Board may leave unfilled for any such period as it may fix, any office except those of President, Treasurer and Secretary. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected annually by the Board at the annual meeting thereof. Each such officer shall hold office until the next succeeding annual meeting of the Board and until his or her successor shall have been duly chosen and shall qualify or until his or her death or until he or she shall resign or shall have been removed. The officers shall receive no compensation for their services as officers, unless expressly provided for in a resolution duly adopted by the Members.

Section 5.2 <u>Resignation and Removal</u>. An officer may resign at any time by delivering notice to the Secretary. A resignation is effective when the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies a later effective time. Any officer may be removed by the Board at any time with or without cause, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. An officer may be removed at any time with or without cause by any of the following: (a) the Board; (b) the officer who appoints such officer, unless these Bylaws or the Board provide otherwise; or (c) any other officer if authorized by these Bylaws or the Board.

Section 5.3 Powers and Duties of the President. Subject to the control of the Board, the President shall have general charge of and direct the operations of the Corporation and shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation. The President shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the Members. The President shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the Board. The President shall keep the Board fully informed and shall freely consult with them concerning the business of the Corporation in his or her charge. The President shall have authority to sign, execute and acknowledge all contracts, checks, deeds, bonds, leases or other obligations on behalf of the Corporation as the President may deem necessary or proper to be executed in the course of the Corporation's regular business as authorized by the Board. The President may sign in the name of the Corporation reports and all other documents or instruments which are necessary or proper to be executed in the course of the Corporation's business. He or she shall perform all duties incident to the office of President as herein defined, and all such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the Board.

Section 5.4 Powers and Duties of the Secretary. The Secretary shall (a) keep minutes of all meetings of the Members and of the Board; (b) authenticate records of the Corporation and attend to giving and serving all notices of the Corporation as provided by these Bylaws or as required by law; (c) be custodian of the corporate seal, if any, the stock certificate books and such other books, records and papers as the Board may direct; (d) keep a record showing the names of all persons who are Members of the Corporation, their post office addresses as furnished by each such Member, and at least ten (10) days before each Members' meeting, prepare a complete list of Members entitled to vote at such meeting arranged in alphabetical order; and (e) in general, perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to the Secretary by the President or the Board. Without limiting the foregoing, the Secretary shall be responsible for maintaining and authenticating the following records: (a) minutes of all meetings of the Members and Board; (b)

all actions taken by the Members or Board without a meeting; (c) all actions taken by a committee of the Board in place of the Board on behalf of the Corporation; (d) articles or restated articles of incorporation and all amendments to them currently in effect; (e) bylaws or restated bylaws and all amendments to them currently in effect; (f) all written communications to Members generally within the past three years, including the financial statements furnished for the past three years; (g) list of names and business addresses of the current Members, directors and officers; and (h) the Corporation's most recent biennial report delivered to the Secretary of State.

Section 5.5 Powers and Duties of the Treasurer. The Treasurer shall (a) have custody of and be responsible for all moneys and securities of the Corporation, shall keep full and accurate records and accounts in books belonging to the Corporation, showing the transactions of the Corporation, its accounts, liabilities and financial condition and shall see that all expenditures are duly authorized and are evidenced by proper receipts and vouchers; (b) deposit in the name of the Corporation in such depository or depositories as are approved by the Board, all moneys that may come into the Treasurer's hands for the Corporation's account; (c) prepare annual financial statements that include a balance sheet as of the end of the fiscal year and an income statement for that year; and (d) in general, perform such duties as may from time to time be assigned to the Treasurer by the President or by the Board.

Section 5.6 <u>Vacancies</u>. Vacancies in any office shall be filled by a majority vote of the Board at a regular or special meeting of said Board. Any officer so elected to fill a vacancy shall hold office for a term equal to the unexpired term of the officer he succeeds.

### ARTICLE 6 CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECKS AND DEPOSITS

- Section 6.1 <u>Contracts</u>. The Board may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.
- Section 6.2 <u>Loans</u>. No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Corporation and no evidences of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by a resolution of the Board. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.
- Section 6.3 <u>Checks, Drafts, etc.</u> All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation, shall be signed by the President, or such other officer or officers, agent or agents of the Corporation and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by the President, the President or by resolution of the Board.

### ARTICLE 7 ASSESSMENTS

Section 7.1 Annual Budget. The Board shall cause to be prepared an estimated annual

budget for each fiscal year of the Association for review and approval by the Board and Members at the annual meeting. Such budget shall take into account the estimated Common Expenses and cash requirements for the year, including but not limited to salaries, wages, payroll taxes, legal and accounting fees, working capital fund, supplies, materials, parts, services, maintenance, repairs, replacements, landscaping, expenses incurred pursuant to any health care agreements, pest control services, insurance, fuel, utility charges, power and all other Common Expenses. To the extent that the assessments and other cash income collected from the Lot Owners during the preceding year shall be more or less than the expenditures of such preceding year, the surplus or deficit, as the case may be, shall also be taken into account. The annual budget shall also take into account the estimated net available cash income for the year from the lease, operation or use of the Common Area. The annual budget shall provide for a reserve for contingencies for the year and a reserve for replacements related to the Common Area that must be replaced on a periodic basis, in reasonable amounts as determined by the Board. A working capital fund equal to at least two (2) months' estimated Common Expense assessment for each Lot shall be established.

- Section 7.2 <u>Assessments.</u> The Board and Members shall, at each annual meeting, approve the estimated annual budget for each fiscal year and shall furnish copies to each Lot Owner, not later than April 30 of each year. On or before the day that is thirty (30) days after the approval of the annual budget by the Board and Members, each Lot Owner shall pay, as his respective annual assessment for the Common Expenses, his proportionate share of the Common Expenses for such year as shown by the annual budget and as determined by the Board and Members. In the event that the Board and Members shall not approve an estimated annual budget or shall fail to determine new annual assessments for any year, or shall be delayed in doing so, each Lot Owner shall continue to pay annually the amount of his respective annual assessment as last determined. No Lot Owner shall be relieved of his obligation to pay his assessment by abandoning or not using his Lot or the Common Area.
- Section 7.3 Partial Year or Month. If a Lot Owner acquires ownership of a Lot in the middle of a fiscal year, then the annual assessments for that Lot Owner shall be proportionate to the number of months and days in such period covered by the annual budget for the year the Lot was acquired by said Lot Owner. Commencing with the date that a Lot Owner acquires ownership of his Lot, each Lot Owner shall pay his assessment for the following year or fraction of a year, which assessment shall be in proportion to his respective ownership interest in the Common Area and the number of months and days remaining in the fiscal year covered by the current annual budget, and which assessment shall be as computed by the Board.
- Section 7.4 <u>Annual Report.</u> Within ninety (90) days after the end of each fiscal year covered by an annual budget, or as soon thereafter as shall be practicable, the Board shall cause to be furnished to each Lot Owner a statement for such year so ended, showing the receipts and expenditures and such other information as the Board may deem desirable.
- Section 7.5 <u>Supplemental Budget</u>. In the event that during the course of any year, it shall appear to the Board that the annual assessments, determined in accordance with the estimated annual budget for such year, are insufficient or inadequate to cover the estimated

Common Expense for the remainder of such year, then the Board shall prepare and the Board and Members shall approve a supplemental budget covering the estimated deficiency for the remainder of such year (the "Supplemental Budget"), copies of said Supplemental Budget shall be furnished to each Lot Owner, and thereupon a supplemental assessment shall be made on each Lot Owner for his proportionate share of such Supplemental Budget. Upon furnishing such a Supplemental Budget and corresponding assessments, the additional assessments shall be a lien on the respective Lots, payable annually.

Section 7.6 <u>Lien.</u> It shall be the duty of every Lot Owner to pay his proportionate share of the Common Expenses as assessed in the manner herein provided.

If any Lot Owner shall fail or refuse to make any such payment of the Common Expenses when due, the amount thereof together with interest thereon at a rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum after said Common Expenses become due and payable, shall constitute a lien enforceable by the Board, on the interest of such Lot Owner in the Property; provided, however, that such lien shall be subordinate to the lien of a prior recorded first mortgage on the interest of such Lot Owner, except for the amount of the proportionate share of Common Expenses that are due and payable from and after the date on which such mortgage owner or holder either takes possession of the Lot, accepts a conveyance of any interest therein (other than as security) or files suit to foreclose its mortgage and causes a receiver to be appointed to take possession of the Lot. The provisions of this paragraph of this Section 7.6 shall not be amended, changed, modified or rescinded in any way without prior written consent of three-fourths (3/4) of the holders of record of mortgages against all or part of the Property. Nothing herein shall be deemed to derogate the right of the Association to recover unpaid assessments and charges from a defaulting Lot Owner personally, without the foreclosure of lien rights or resort to other remedies.

The Association or its successors or assigns, or the Board or its agents, shall have the right to maintain a suit to foreclose any such lien for unpaid assessments, and there shall be added to the amount due the costs of said suit and other fees and expenses, together with interest and reasonable attorney's fees to be fixed by the Court. The Board or the Association shall have the authority to exercise and enforce any and all rights and remedies as provided for in the Act, these Bylaws, or as are otherwise available at law or in equity, for the collection of all unpaid assessments or otherwise enforce the obligations imposed by the Act, these Bylaws or any rules and regulations that may be adopted by the Board.

Section 7.7 <u>Records and Statement of Account.</u> The Board shall cause to be kept the records required and detailed and accurate records of the receipts and expenditures affecting the Common Area, specifying and itemizing the Common Expenses incurred. Payment vouchers may be approved in such manner as the Board may determine.

The Board shall, upon receipt of ten (10) days' written notice to it or the Association and upon payment of a reasonable fee, furnish to any Lot Owner a statement of his account setting forth the amount of any unpaid assessments or other charges due and owing from such Lot Owner, which statement of account shall be conclusive evidence of the amount of unpaid assessments or other charges due as of the date stated in said statement.

Section 7.8 <u>Discharge of Liens.</u> The Board may cause the Association to discharge any mechanic's lien or other encumbrance that in the opinion of the Board may constitute a lien against the Property or the Common Area, rather than a lien against only a particular Lot. When less than all the Lot Owners are responsible for the existence of any such lien, the Lot Owners responsible shall be jointly and severally liable for the amount necessary to discharge the same and for all costs and expenses including attorney's fees, incurred by reason of such lien.

Section 7.9 <u>Holding of Funds.</u> All funds collected hereunder shall be held and expended for the purposes designated herein, and (except for such special assessments as may be levied hereunder against less than all the Lot Owners and for such adjustments as may be required to reflect delinquent or prepaid assessments) shall be deemed to be held for the benefit, use and account of all the Lot Owners.

### ARTICLE 8 ABATEMENT AND RESTRAINT OF VIOLATIONS BY LOT OWNERS

The violation of any rules or regulations adopted by the Board or the breach of any provision contained herein, or the breach of any provision of the Covenants, shall give the Board the right, in addition to any other rights set forth in these Bylaws:

- (a) to enter the Lot, upon reasonable notice and at reasonable hours, in which or as to which such violation or breach exists and to summarily abate or remove, at the expense of the defaulting Lot Owner, any structure, thing or condition that may exist therein contrary to the intent and meaning of the provisions hereof, and the Board shall not thereby be deemed guilty in any manner of trespass; or
- (b) to enjoin, abate or remedy by appropriate legal proceedings, either at law or in equity, the continuance of any such breach; or
- (c) to proceed with both (a) and (b) above.

### ARTICLE 9 CONTRACTUAL POWERS

No contract or other transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or between this Corporation and any corporation, firm or association in which one or more of the directors of this Corporation are directors, or are financially interested, is void or voidable because such director or directors are present at the meeting of the Board or a committee thereof that authorizes or approves the contract or transaction or because his or their votes are counted, if the requirements for the authorization, approval, or ratification of conflict of interest transactions as set forth in the Act are met.

### ARTICLE 10 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 10.1 <u>Facsimile and Electronic Signatures</u>. In addition to the provisions for use of facsimile and electronic signatures elsewhere specifically authorized in these Bylaws, facsimile and electronic signatures of any officer or officers of the Corporation may be used whenever and as authorized by the Board or a committee thereof. An "<u>electronic signature</u>" is any electronic symbol or process attached to or logically associated with a document sent by electronic transmission and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign such document. Electronic signature includes (i) a unique password or unique identification assigned to a person by the Corporation; (ii) a person's typed name attached to or part of an electronic transmission sent by or from a source authorized by such person such as an e-mail address provided by such person as that person's e-mail address; (iii) a person's facsimile signature; and (iv) any other form of electronic signature approved by the Board.

- Section 10.2 <u>Corporate Seal</u>. The Corporation shall not adopt an official seal.
- Section 10.3 <u>Fiscal Year</u>. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be from the first day of January through the last day of December.
- Section 10.4 <u>Corporate Records</u>. The books and records of the Corporation shall be kept (except that the member list must also be kept at the places described in Section 3.6 of these Bylaws) at the principal office of the Corporation.
- Section 10.5 <u>Voting of Stocks Owned by the Corporation</u>. In the absence of a resolution of the Board to the contrary, the President, acting within the scope of his or her authority as provided in these Bylaws, is authorized and empowered on behalf of the Corporation to attend and vote, or to grant discretionary proxies to be used, at any meeting of members of any corporation in which this Corporation holds or owns shares of stock, and in that connection, on behalf of this Corporation, to execute a waiver of notice of any such meeting or a written consent to action without a meeting. The Board shall have authority to designate any officer or person as a proxy or attorney-in-fact to vote shares of stock in any other corporation in which this Corporation may own or hold shares of stock.

#### Section 10.6 Members' Right to Information.

(a) A Member of the Corporation is entitled to inspect and copy, during regular business hours at the Corporation's principal office, any of the following records of the Corporation: (i) articles or restated articles of incorporation and all amendments currently in effect; (ii) bylaws or restated bylaws and all amendments currently in effect; (iii) resolutions adopted by its Board relating to the characteristics, qualifications, rights, limitations, and obligations of Members or any class or category of Members; (iv) minutes of all Members' meetings and records of all action taken by Members without a meeting, for the past three (3)

- years; (v) all written communications to Members generally within the past three years, including the financial statements furnished for the past three (3) years; (v) a list of the names and business addresses of the Corporation's current directors and officers; and (vii) the Corporation's most recent biennial report delivered to the Iowa Secretary of State. Provided the Member shall have given the Corporation written notice of the Member's demand at least five (5) business days before the date on which the Member wishes to inspect and copy.
- (b) Subject to paragraphs (e) and (f) below, if a Member makes a demand in good faith and for a proper purpose, the Member describes with reasonable particularity the Member's purpose and the records the Member desires to inspect, and the records requested, are directly connected with the Member's stated purpose, then the Member shall be entitled to inspect and copy, during regular business hours at a reasonable location specified by the Corporation, any of the following records of the Corporation provided the Member gives the Corporation written notice of the Member's demand at least ten (10) business days before the date on which the Member wishes to inspect and copy any of the following:(i) excerpts from minutes of any meeting of the Board, records of any actions of a committee of the Board while acting in place of the Board on behalf of the Corporation, minutes of any meeting of the Members, and records of action taken by the Members or the Board without a meeting to the extent not subject to inspection under paragraph (a) above; (ii) accounting records of the Corporation; and (iii) the membership list of the Corporation.
- (c) Upon written request from a Member, the Corporation, at its expense, shall furnish to that Member the annual financial statements of the Corporation, including a balance sheet and income statement and, if the annual financial statements are reported upon by a public accountant, that report must accompany them.
- (d) The Corporation may impose a reasonable charge, covering the costs of labor and material, for copies of any documents provided to the Member. The charge shall not exceed the estimated cost of production or reproduction of the records.
- (e) Without the consent of the Board, no corporate record may be obtained or used by any person for any purpose unrelated to the Member's interest as a Member.
- (f) The Corporation may, within ten (10) days after receiving a demand for the inspection of the membership list, deliver a written offer of an alternative method of achieving the purpose identified in the demand without providing access to or a copy of the membership list. A reasonable alternative may include a member-prepared communication mailed by the Corporation at the expense of the Member.
- Section 10.7 <u>Director's Access to Records.</u> A director is entitled to inspect and copy the books, records, and documents of the corporation at any reasonable time to the extent reasonably related to the performance of the director's duties as a director, including any duties as a member of a committee, but not for any other purpose or in any manner that would violate any duty to the Corporation.

Section 10.8 <u>Electronic Transmissions</u>. "<u>Electronic transmission</u>" or "<u>electronically transmitted</u>" means any process of communication not directly involving the physical transfer of paper that is suitable for the retention, retrieval, and reproduction of information by the recipient. Notice by electronic transmission is written notice. Notices and written consents may be given by electronic transmission. Each written consent given by electronic transmission shall contain an electronic signature of the person giving such written consent.

Section 10.9 <u>Construction</u>. Words and phrases herein shall be construed as in the singular or plural number and as masculine, feminine or neuter gender, according to the context. These Bylaws shall not be amended or altered in any manner inconsistent with the Covenants.

Section 10.10 Severability. The invalidity of any portion or provision of these Bylaws shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions or portions thereof.

### ARTICLE 11 SALE AND NOTICE

Lot Owners shall notify the Board of the sale of any Lot within thirty (30) days of the sale and shall furnish the Board with the name and address of the new Lot Owner or Lot Owners.

### ARTICLE 12 AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed and new bylaws adopted if such action is proposed and presented in writing to the Members of the Association at least ten (10) days in advance of the date of any meeting where such action shall occur. Approval of any change in the Bylaws must be by a three-fourths (3/4) vote of the Members entitled to vote under the provisions of these Bylaws.